1986

# Jolene Hatch v. Scott Hatch : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

### I.

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO RULE ON THE CHILD SUPPORT ISSUE? SHOULD THE COURT HAVE APPORTIONED CHILD SUPPORT BETWEEN APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT, WHOSE EARNINGS HAVE ALMOST DOUBLED SINCE THE DECREE AND WHO NOW EARNS THREE-FOURTHS AS MUCH AS APPELLANT?

### II.

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO AWARD APPELLANT A BIGGER OFFSET IN RESPONSE TO DAMAGE RESPONDENT NEGLIGENTLY OR INENTIONALLY CAUSED TO APPELLANT'S HOUSE AND DEBTS APPELLANT PAID FOR THE BENEFIT OF RESPONDENT? DOES THE GREAT WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SUBSTANTIATE A BIGGER OFFSET?

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### I. FACTS CONCERNING CHILD SUPPORT

Appellant Scott Hatch was divorced from Respondent Jolene Hatch on November 28, 1984. The divorce decree gave Appellant custody of the two minor children for the nine-month school year and Respondent custody for the summer (T. 58). Appellant was ordered to financially support the children during the nine months he has custody and pay \$300.00 per month during the summer when Respondent has custody. Respondent was not ordered to pay any child support (T. 62).

At the time of the decree, Respondent was only working part time at Eagles and earning \$4.00 per hour, plus tips, for \$654 per month (T. 115-116 and Memorandum Decision October 2, 1986, page 2). At the present time, she is still working the same amount at Eagles. In addition, she works at Kings for \$3.35 per hour during the winter for an additional \$617.00 per month, based on a 4.3 week month, as the Uniform Child Support Schedule is calculated. This is a total of \$1,271.00 per month in the winter (T. 116). In the summer, she works at Eagles for \$654.00 per month and on construction for \$750.00 per month for a total of \$1,404.00 per month (T. 115). Thus, since the divorce decree, her earnings have doubled.

Since the divorce decree, Appellant's earnings have risen from \$11.44 per hour or \$1,400.00 per month (Memorandum Decision, October 2, 1986, page 2) to \$12.27 per hour for a

urrent monthly total of \$1,962.00 (T. 76-77). Thus, Respondent arns three-fourths as much as Appellant now.

Under the Uniform Child Support Schedule (Attachment 1), according to her earnings, Respondent should pay \$232.00 child support per month in the summer, \$202.00 in the winter. Appellant should pay \$318.00 per month.

Although Appellant pled for a ruling on the support issue and introduced evidence, the Trial Court inadvertently did not make a ruling on that issue.

## II. FACTS CONCERNING DAMAGES TO THE HOME

The divorce decree, November 28, 1984, gave Appellant possession of the home as of December 1, 1984 (T. 139). When Appellant took possession, Respondent had been in possession for a year and a half (T. 46). At the time of the divorce, the house was three years old (T. 47).

When he took possession in late November, 1984, Appellant discovered that Respondent had left a significant amount of sewage backed up in the basement for three or four months during the winter of 1983-84 (T. 120). In fact, the sewage was still three or four inches deep in November of 1984 (T. 28), a year after the initial problem. The basement sheetrock was moldy four or five feet high (T. 28), the stud walls were rotted, and the insulation had to be removed (T. 9). The wood paneling in two basement bedrooms had to be replaced (T. 16). The furnace was rusted away where the sewage sat around

it and it didn't work. The water heater, the washer and dryer the tools, and the downstairs carpet were ruined (T. 36 and 50) Upstairs, there was old food lying around, there were animal droppings and urine stains all over the carpet, the bedroom carpet was soaked and water had run down the hall where Respondent had drained the waterbed on the carpet, there were holes in the walls, the drapes were torn, and there was scribbling on the walls (T. 27-29, 37 and 38). The cupboards were full of dishes with food left on them (T. 50). The floor under the waterbed had buckled and had to be replaced (T. 54). The social worker who visited the home described as an unfit place for children to live (T. 29). Respondent admitted to having caused the basement damage (T. 128).

The contractor who assessed the damage and made a bid on repairs estimated the damage to be \$10,000.00 to bring the house back to a livable condition (T. 16) not counting the cost of replacing carpeting or linoleum (T. 17). Appellant and the children could not live in the home for two and a half months while Appellant repaired the home to a livable condition (T. 51 and 52). It is not yet completely repaired (T. 54).

### III. FACTS CONCERNING OTHER DEBTS PAID BY APPELLANT FOR THE BENEFIT OF RESPONDENT

Appellant agreed to pay the mortgage payment of \$310.00 in lieu of \$300.00 child support beginning in December, 1983 (T. 130-131). However, he paid in addition, beyond what he was ordered to pay, \$1,060.00 in delinquent house payments (T. 53).

e paid a delinquent water bill of \$360.00 (T. 53). Respondent says she was supposed to pay utilities (T. 120). Appellant also paid Respondent's delinquent car loan of \$1,500.00 plus interest of \$280.00, \$450.00 excess child support and \$45.00 interest (Order and Judgment October 16, 1986, page 2). He also paid \$400.00 in attorney's fees in connection with being sued over Respondent's car loan (T. 60 and 106). He paid \$250.00 to Big O beyond what he was ordered by the Trial Court to pay as part of the divorce settlement (T. 97). This is a total of \$4,345.00.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. CHILD SUPPORT. Although Appellant pled for apportioned child support and introduced evidence of a substantial change in Respondent's earnings, which have doubled since the divorce, the court inadvertently failed to rule on the child support issue. Public policy, statutory law and case law all dictate that mothers as well as fathers are obligated to support their children, and Respondent, who earns three-fourths as much as Appellant, should pay some child support.

Under the Uniform Child Support Schedule, she should pay \$232.00 per month in the summer and \$202.00 in the winter. Appellant should pay \$318.00 per month.

2. OFFSETS FOR DAMAGE TO THE HOUSE. The divorce decree ordered Appellant to pay Respondent \$8,750.00 for her equity in the house. Several witnesses testified to the extensive damage



Respondent did to the house, mainly by leaving a flood of sewage in the basement for at least three months. In fact, three or four inches of sewage still stood in the basement a year after the initial problems. Testimony was that about \$10,000.00 of damage was done excluding damage to carpets and linoleum. The trial court ignored over half of this damage in determining the offset.

3. OFFSETS FOR DEBTS PAID BY APPELLANT FOR THE BENEFIT OF RESPONDENT. Evidence showed that Appellant paid \$4,345.00 for Respondent's debts beyond what the property settlement ordered him to pay. The trial court ignored most of this amount, which should have all been offsets.

#### ARGUMENT

The Court, in considering appeals of divorce decree modifications such as the instant case, has "broad equitable powers and (is) not necessarily bound or limited by the trial court's findings." Thompson v. Thompson 709 P.2d 361 (Utah 1985). Since divorce proceedings are equitable, "it is the prerogative of the Court to review the facts as well as the law...." Ross v. Ross 592 P.2d 600, 602 (Utah 1979). The Constitution of Utah, Art. VIII, Section 9 states in pertinent part, "In equity cases the appeal may be on questions of both law and fact...."

In the instant case, the Court needs to review the facts to see that Appellant pled for a ruling on the child support issue and introduced much evidence, but the trial court inadvertently

did not make a ruling. The Court must also review the facts to determine the amount of child support which should be required from Respondent. Facts also need to be reviewed on the offset issue to show that the "evidence clearly preponderates against the findings" of the trial court and that a bigger offset was justified. Adams v. Adams 593 P.2d 147, 149 (Utah 1979).

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT RULING ON A MAJOR ISSUE OF THE TRIAL, NAMELY THE CHILD SUPPORT ISSUE. AMPLE EVIDENCE OF A SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES WAS PRESENTED AND THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE APPORTIONED SOME OF THE CHILD SUPPORT TO THE RESPONDENT.

Appellant pled for child support to be apportioned and some assessed against Respondent. He introduced evidence of a substantial change in Respondent's earnings but the trial court inadvertently made no ruling (Order and Judgment of October 16, 1986, page 2).

The original divorce decree charged Appellant with total responsibility for child support for the parties' two minor children during the nine months he has custody and, additionally, ordered him to pay \$300.00 per month for the three months Respondent has custody. At the time of the decree, Respondent was only working part time, earning \$4.00 per hour plus tips, equaling \$654.00 per month. Appellant was earning \$1,400.00 per month.

Since the decree, Respondent's earnings have doubled, a substantial change in circumstances. She now earns \$1,271.00 per month in the winter and \$1,404.00 per month in the summer. Appellant now earns \$1,962.00 per month. Thus, Respondent earns three-fourths as much as Appellant.

The Utah Supreme Court in Woodward v. Woodward 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985) cites the rule that "(b)oth parents have an obligation to support their children. A child's right to that support is paramount." The Woodward Court cites the statutory basis for the principle that the mother as well as the father is obligated to support her children. The Uniform Civil Liability for Support Act, Utah Code Ann. Sections 78-45-3 and -4 (1953 as amended) says, "Every man shall support his child (and) every woman shall support her child...."

The Woodward Court says further, "The fact that one parent is not currently required to pay support to the other neither terminates the child's right nor obviates that parent's responsibility for such support as may be determined at some future time." Id. citing In re C.J.U. 660 P.2d 237, 239 (Utah 1983). In the instant case, there has been a substantial change in Respondent's income, which has doubled. It is equitable to apportion some of the expenses of raising children to the mother. Since she pays nothing the nine months when Appellant has custody, Respondent should at least pay all the support during the summer. Under the Bernard v. Attebury standard for

determining equitable child support, considering the relative wealth, income and ability of each party to earn, Respondent should pay some child support. 629 P.2d 892, 894 (Utah 1981).

#### POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT A BIGGER OFFSET FOR RESPONDENT'S GROSSLY NEGLIGENT OR INTENTIONAL DAMAGE TO APPELLANT'S HOME FOLLOWING THE DIVORCE DECREE. THE GREAT WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE POINTS TO MUCH MORE IN DAMAGES THAN THE TRIAL COURT FOUND. EVIDENCE ALSO DICTATES A BIGGER OFFSET FOR DEBTS PAID BY APPELLANT FOR THE BENEFIT OF RESPONDENT.

Appellant was ordered to pay Respondent \$8,750.00 for her equity in the house. Respondent does not dispute the fact that she kept a very dirty house and left sewage standing in the basement of the home while she was in possession. The social worker who visited the home described the condition. There was old food lying around on counters and on the floor. The carpets were wet. The bedroom carpet was soaked and water had run down the hall. There were animal droppings and stains on the carpet and holes in the sheetrock. The basement was still full of sewage three to four inches deep a year after the original deep floods. Rags, old clothes and garbage littered the floor in all of the rooms. Mold was four or five feet up on the basement sheetrock which had buckled. The basement carpet was covered with liquid creating what he described as an unfit place for children to live.

Respondent admits she was responsible for basement damage. The contractor who bid on repairs estimated the damages to be \$10,000.00 not counting money to replace carpets or linoleum. His bid included some upstairs damage to one wall for which Appellant may have been responsible. The Trial Court mentions that an appraisal done on the home was the basis for the divorce decree property settlement giving Respondent \$8,750.00 in equity on the home (Order and Judgment, October 16, 1986). The trial court questioned whether "deferred maintenance" in the appraisal was meant to include some of the damage to the home (T. 237). While it could include some of the deterioration upstairs such as scribbling on the walls and the linoleum in the kitchen, damage from a basement full of sewage is hardly deferred maintenance. An appraisal done on a home full of sewage, which several witnesses said created an overpowering smell, would have mentioned the damage had it existed at the time (October 14, 1983 ((T. 102).) A second appraisal was done from outside the home (T. 103) so it likely would not have included the damages anyway, had there been any at the time. Testimony places the sewage damage in the winter of 1983-84, after the appraisal.

The entire basement had to be redone, including the sheetrock, studs, insulation and carpeting before the house was even habitable. It was not part of the first divorce settlement. Although the damage had occurred, Appellant was ordered not to come to the home and he was not aware that the problem had not

been corrected. Respondent told him she had called Rupp to repair the septic tank (T. 68).

The trial court in his Order and Judgment of October 16, 1986, page 2, itemized \$12,053.75 in debts Appellant owed Respondent under the decree. He itemized offsets of \$2,257.00 for Appellant paying the car loan plus interest and extra child support (page 2). The Court gave offsets of \$3,735.00 for damage to the basement, and then held Appellant 1/3 responsible leaving only \$2,800.00 as an offset for the damage to the basement. This included only studs, insulation, sheetrock, and wood paneling.

This minimal offset is against the great weight of evidence. The court does not give credit for the damage to the furnace, the water heater, the washer and dryer, the carpet downstairs (which stood a year soaked in sewage), the tools ruined by the sewage, basement paint, the carpet Respondent emptied the waterbed on upstairs, attorney's fees of \$400.00 when Appellant was sued for Respondent's overdue car loan, delinquent house payments of \$1,060.00, the delinquent water bill of \$360.00, damage to the carpet upstairs from animal feces and urine, \$1,500.00 for general demolition and clean up of the basement that was necessary before it could be repaired (T. 19), \$250.00 Appellant paid to Big O beyond what he was ordered to pay in the decree, and cleaning up the upstairs. The house was only three years old. The damages named above were all part of the testimony and

amount to at least an additional \$4,000.00. Since Respondent's actions in leaving the sewage for a year were at least grossly negligent if not intentional, she should forego the amount of equity she was awarded since she destroyed at least that much of the value of the home. The smell may be permanent.

#### CONCLUSION

Appellant prays for the following relief:

1. Appellant's child support obligation should be reduced and made proportional to Respondent's obligation. Under Utah's Uniform Child Support Schedule, Respondent should owe \$232.00 per month in the summer and \$202.00 per month during the winter. Appellant, under the Schedule, should owe \$318.00 per month. Public policy, statutory law and case law all dictate that a mother has a duty to support her children. Here, Respondent's income has doubled since the divorce, a substantial change in circumstances, and the court should modify the child support.

2. The great weight of evidence supports a greater offset of Appellant's debts to Respondent. Testimony support an offset of at least \$8,000.00 for Respondent's grossly negligent or intentional damage to the house and an additional offset of at least \$7,715.00 in itemized payments Appellant made for the benefit of Respondent, not required by the decree. The Court found that Appellant owes \$12,053.75 to Respondent before offsets (Order and Judgment, October 16, 1986). Evidence in the record substantiates offsets of \$15,715.00.