1986

Jolene Hatch v. Scott Hatch : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Has the Defendant/Appellant overcome the presumption of validity of the trial court's decision not to modify the child support award in the original Decree of Divorce?

2. Did the trial court's apportionment of the parties' property work such a manifest injustice as to constitute an abuse of discretion by the trial court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from a decision modifying a Decree of Divorce issued by the Honorable Omer J. Call in The First Judicial District in Box Elder County on November 28, 1984. The original Decree divorced Respondent Jolene Hatch and Appellant Scott Hatch from each other, awarded custody to the Appellant during the school year and to Respondent during the summer, ordered child support to be paid by Appellant during the summer months, divided the parties' property, awarded Respondent alimony for one year, and ordered Appellant to pay certain marital debts.

Each party thereafter sought a modification of the Decree of Divorce, and on October 2, 1986, Judge Call issued a Memorandum Decision. On October 16, 1986, he issued an Order and Judgment addressing the requests for modification, and modifying the Decree with the regard to the property division.

Judge Call's modification order has been appealed by Appellant Scott Hatch to the Utah Court of Appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In the original Decree of Divorce, Appellant Scott Hatch was ordered to pay child support during the three summer months of each year when the Respondent has custody. Between the issuance of the Decree and the modification hearing, Appellant had failed to pay three months of support (T. 63). Appellant also failed to make any alimony payments, despite the court's order (T. 108) and despite the fact that Appellant earns \$1,962.00 gross income per month (T. 77).

Respondent Jolene Hatch's income has increased since the original Decree of Divorce. At the time of the Decree, she was earning \$654.00 net income per month (Memorandum Decision, October 2, 1986, page 2), and by the time of the modification hearing she had managed to obtain additional part-time employment at minimum wage during the winter months (T. 116). This means that during the winter months, Respondent earns approximately \$160.00 gross per month for her part-time work at Eagles (T. 115), and \$576.00 gross per month for full-time work at King's (T. 116, 146 - Respondent's salary from King's is calculated by multiplying the minimum wage of \$3.35/hour by forty hours per week and then by 4.3 weeks). Respondent's total gross income during the winter months is therefore approximately \$736.00 per month.

During the summer months, Respondent maintains her part-time job at Eagles for the \$160.00 gross income per month, and has also obtained construction work for the days during the summer when work is available. Respondent Jolene Hatch estimates that her gross monthly income in the summer is approximately \$750.00 (T. 115). Therefore, Respondent's total gross income in the summer months is approximately \$910.00 per month. This is only \$256.00 per month more than she was earning at the time of the original Decree during the summer and only \$82.00 per month more than she was earning during the winter.

It should be noted that the Appellant's brief on page 3 makes the assumption that Respondent "is still working the same amount at Eagles" as she was working at the time of the original

Decree. In fact, Respondent is only working ten hours per week at Eagles at the same \$4.00 per hour (T. 115). The assumption in Respondent's brief is not cited to the transcript, and is not supported by the evidence.

With regard to the property division, in the original Decree of Divorce issued in November 1984, Judge Call took into consideration some of the damage to the house, and determined the amount of equity to be awarded to the Respondent with those offsets, among others, in mind (Memorandum Decision, October 2, 1986, page 3). During the modification hearing, Appellant asserted that there was further damage of which he was unaware which took place between the couple's separation and the granting of the divorce, and which he only discovered after he took possession in December 1986 (T. 51).

Evidence adduced at the modification hearing shows that Appellant Scott Hatch was in fact aware of much of the damage being done to the house, particularly to the basement, both through direct communication with his wife, the Respondent Jolene Hatch (T. 133, 135, 136, 137, 220), and indirectly through his father (T. 44). The damages to the upstairs portion of the house were also known by Appellant, and some of those damages were caused by him (T. 121). Although two appraisals prior to the issuance of the original Divorce Decree reflected no serious damage to the house, evidence also showed that the appraisals had been done only from the outside (T. 103).

Judge Call, in his Memorandum Decision of October 2, 1986 (page 4), found that the Respondent should be responsible for three-fourths of the damage and that the Appellant should be

responsible for one-fourth. Judge Call after permitting all the testimony on the damage requested by the Appellant (T. 14-25, 60), gleaned out those damages that had not been considered in the original Decree and permitted Appellant an offset for them, as well as offsets for other items requested by the Appellant (Memorandum Decision, October 2, 1986, page 4).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Contrary to the assertion by the Appellant, the trial court ruled on the child support issue and ordered that the original Divorce Decree ordering the Appellant to pay child support remain as entered, and not be modified. The rule of judicial review of a decision regarding divorce matters on appeal requires that the appellant (1) rebut the presumption of validity of the findings and judgment of the trial court, (2) show that the trial court's findings of fact are contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence, and (3) prove that the trial court misunderstood or misapplied the law to such an extent to result in a substantial and prejudicial error abused its discretion to the extent that a serious inequity or injustice has resulted. The Appellant in this case has not carried this burden and therefore the findings and judgment of the trial court should not be disturbed.

With regard to the apportionment of the parties property, the trial court decided to modify the original Divorce Decree and allow the Appellant an offset for damage done to the house. The Court heard all the evidence that the Appellant requested be heard, and the Court made a decision on the basis of that evidence. The Appellant has not presented sufficient proof that

the trial court's decision works such a manifest injustice as to constitute an abuse of discretion by the trial court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT HAS NOT CARRIED HIS BURDEN OF REBUTTING THE PRESUMPTION OF VALIDITY OF THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION NOT TO MODIFY THE CHILD SUPPORT AWARD IN THE ORIGINAL DECREE.

Contrary to the assertion by the Appellant that Judge Call failed to rule on the child support issue, the Order and Judgment contains a paragraph stating the basis on which the Court decided not to modify the original child support order, while the Order itself states that "[t]he Decree of Divorce in this case shall remain as entered, except as specifically modified herein." Judgment and Order, October 16, 1987, page 3. Since the only things modified in the October 16, 1987 Order are the Appellant's offset for damage to the house and other offsets, the trial court ruled on the child support issue and decided that it not be modified.

Even if this Court were to find that the trial court inadvertently failed to rule on the Appellant's request to modify the original child support order, the trial court did state in its Memorandum Decision and in its Findings of Fact that there had not been a sufficient change in circumstances to warrant a modification of the child support order.

In Berger v. Berger, 713 P.2d 695, 696 (Utah 1985), the Utah Supreme Court reiterated the rules of judicial review of a decision regarding divorce matters on appeal. The Court stated that

although [a divorce] case is in equity and [the Court is] free to review both the law and the facts . . . [the Court] place[s] a presumption of validity upon the trial court's actions in divorce cases. Thus the burden is on the appellant to show error, and [the Court] will overturn the trial court's findings of fact only if they are contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence . . . [The Court] will overturn the trial court's judgment where there has been a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error or where there has been such an abuse of discretion that an inequity or injustice has resulted. (Citations omitted)

The Appellant in this case has not carried the required burden and therefore this Court should not disturb the judgment of the trial court that the child support order should not be modified.

If this Court determines that it will review the facts in this case to determine whether the trial court's findings are contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence, the Court, upon reviewing the transcript, will discover that the Respondent's income has increased slightly (\$256.00 per month in the winter months and \$82.00 in the summer months), bringing her monthly gross income to \$736.00 in the winter and \$910.00 in the summer (Memorandum Decision, October 2, 1986, T. 115, 116, 146). The Appellant's monthly income has also increased approximately \$.83 per hour (Order and Judgment, October 16, 1986, page 2), bringing his monthly gross income to \$1962.00 (T. 77). Respondent's slight increase in income does not constitute a substantial change in circumstances.

Once this Court reviews the evidence, if it deems such a review necessary under the Berger rules of appellate review cited above, it will be required to determine if there has been a substantial change of circumstances. Woodward v. Woodward, 709 P.2d 393, 394 (Utah 1985). Unless this Court finds an abuse of

discretion on the part of the trial court, it must affirm the trial court's refusal to find any substantial change in circumstances of the parties that would warrant the imposition of support payments by the Respondent. Id.

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S APPORTIONMENT OF THE PARTIES' PROPERTY DOES NOT WORK SUCH A MANIFEST INJUSTICE AS TO CONSTITUTE AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION BY THE TRIAL COURT.

The standard for review of property apportionment in divorce cases was set out in Pusey v. Pusey, 728 P.2d 117, 119 (Utah 1986), as follows:

This Court endows the trial court's adjustment of financial interests of the parties with a presumption of validity and does not review their values absent a clear abuse of discretion . . . We do not lightly disturb property divisions made by the trial court and uphold its decision except where to do so would work a manifest injustice or inequity.

This standard was reiterated most recently in Rayburn v. Rayburn, 59 UAR 42, 44 (5/29/87), in which this Court stated that "[o]n appellate review, that trial court's apportionment of property will not be disturbed unless it works such a manifest injustice or inequity as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion."

In Berger v. Berger, supra at 698, the defendant contended that certain pieces of real property which were awarded to the plaintiff were undervalued. The Utah Supreme Court in that case stated that it had examined the valuations and decided to refrain from disturbing any of them since they were all based on competent evidence. The Court also stated that their value was in issue at the trial, and the trial court, within its rightful discretion, made the valuation decision it saw fit.

The trial court in this case, after hearing and considering

all the evidence requested by the Appellant, determined that Appellant is entitled to a greater offset than was initially determined in the original Decree of Divorce. It is the Respondent's view that Judge Call was more than fair in hearing the evidence and in apportioning the fault for the damage to the house. A certain portion of the damage and some of the offsets were considered when the original Decree was issued, and the remainder thereof were judiciously weighed when the requests for modification of the Decree was heard.

The Appellant has not carried his burden of proving that Judge Call abused his discretion or committed substantial and prejudicial error that deprived the Appellant of a full and fair presentation of his case. Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Mitsui Investment Inc., 522 P.2d 1370, 1374 (Utah 1974). Nor has the Appellant proved that the findings of the trial court would work a manifest injustice or inequity. In the absence of such proof, the findings and judgment of the trial court should not be disturbed.